Influence of annexin A7 on Insulin Sensitivity

Inaugural-Dissertation

zur Erlangung des Doktorgrades

der Medizin

der Medizinischen Fakultät

der Eberhard Karls Universität

zu Tübingen

vorgelegt von

Luo Dong

2014

Dekan: Professor Dr. I. B. Autenrieth

- 1. Berichterstatter: Professor Dr.F.Lang
- 2. Berichterstatter: Professor Dr.B.Gallwitz

Statement of Authorship

I hereby declare that this thesis is my own original work and it has been written by me in its entirety. I have faithfully and properly cited all sources used in the thesis. This thesis has not been submitted for the award of any degree or diploma in any other tertiary institute.

Dong Luo

Abstract

Background: Insulin sensitivity is impaired by PGE_2 , a major product of cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2), which thus interferes with cellular glucose uptake following a glucose load. As shown in erythrocytes, PGE_2 formation is inhibited by annexin A7. The present study defined the role of annexin A7 in glucose metabolism.

Methods: Gene-targeted mice lacking annexin A7 (*annexinA7^{-/-}*) were compared to wild type mice (*annexinA7^{+/+}*). 6-Keto-prostaglandin-F₁ α (6-Keto-PGF₁ α) was determined by ELISA to estimate COX-2 activity in serum. Hepatic COX activity was determined by an ELISA assay. Glucose and insulin serum concentrations were determined following an intraperitoneal glucose load and glucose serum levels after intraperitoneal injection of insulin. Experiments were done without and with pretreatment of the mice with COX inhibitor aspirin.

Results: The serum 6-Keto-PGF1 α level and hepatic COX activity were significantly higher in *annexinA7^{-/-}* than in *annexinA7^{+/+}* mice. The intraperitoneal glucose tolerance test revealed decreased glucose tolerance in *annexinA7^{-/-}* mice compared to *annexinA7^{+/+}* mice. Intraperitoneal insulin injection decreased the serum glucose level in both genotypes, an effect significantly less pronounced in *annexinA7^{-/-}* than in *annexinA7^{+/+}* mice. Intraperitoneal glucose administration resulted in higher serum insulin concentrations in *annexinA7^{-/-}* than in *annexinA7^{+/+}* mice. Aspirin pretreatment lowered the increase in insulin concentration following glucose injection in both genotypes and virtually abrogated the differences in serum insulin between the genotypes. Moreover, aspirin pretreatment improved glucose tolerance in *annexinA7^{-/-}* mice.

Conclusions: Annexin A7 influences insulin sensitivity of cellular glucose uptake and thus glucose tolerance. These effects depend on COX activity.

Table of Contents

Statement of authorship	1
Abstract	2
Table of Contents	3
Table of Figures	5
List of Abbreviations	7
1.Introduction	9
1.1 Annexin and annexin A7	9
1.2 COX and prostaglandin	12
1.3 PGE2 and its effect in glucose metabolism	13
1.4 Insulin action and signaling	15
1.5 Insulin signaling defects in insulin resistance	
1.6 Aims of the study	19
2. Materials and Methods	20
2.1 Materials	20
2.2 Methods	
2.2.1 Serum Collection.	23
2.2.2 Animals Treatment	23
2.2.3 Glucose Tolerance Test	23
2.2.4 Insulin Tolerance Test	24
2.2.5 Determination of insulin, leptin and 6-Keto-PGF _{1α} in plasma	24
2.2.6 Determination of PGE ₂ and COX activity in liver tissue	24

2.2.7 Ussing Chamber Measurement.	24
2.2.8 Urine Collection and Urinary glucose Measurement	25
2.3 Statistical Analysis.	26
3.Results	27
3.1 Higher serum 6-Keto-PGF1 α levels in <i>annexinA7^{-/-}</i> mice	27
3.2 Higher COX activity in <i>annexin</i> $A7^{-2}$ mice liver	28
3.3 Decreased glucose tolerance in <i>annexin</i> $A7^{-/-}$ mice	29
3.4 Lower insulin sensitivity of <i>annexinA7^{-/-}</i> mice	31
3.5 Reduced glucose tolerance in $annexinA7^{-/-}$ mice depends on COX activity	33
3.6 Leptin levels in <i>annexinA</i> $7^{+/+}$ and <i>annexinA</i> $7^{-/-}$ mice	34
3.7 Lower SGLT1 activity in jejunum of <i>annexinA7^{-/-}</i> mice	35
3.8 Urinary glucose levels in <i>annexinA</i> $7^{+/+}$ and <i>annexinA</i> $7^{-/-}$ mice	37
3.9 Higher ENaC activity of colon in <i>annexinA7</i> ^{-/-} mice	37
4. Discussion	39
4.1 The effect of annexin A7 deficiency on glucose tolerance	39
4.2 The mechanism of annexin A7 impacting on insulin sensitivity	41
4.3 The effect of annexin A7 on SGLT1 and ENaC activity	43
5. Zusammenfassung	46
6. Publications	48
7. Curriculum Vitae	49
8. Acknowledgements	50
References	51

Table of Figures

Figure 1. The three-dimensional crystal structure of human annexin A510
Figure 2. COX-1 and COX-2 pathways
Figure 3. Prostaglandin biosynthetic pathways
Figure 4. Insulin receptor structure
Figure 5. Insulin signaling through its metabolic and mitogenic pathways
Figure 6. Serum 6-Keto-PGF ₁ α concentration in <i>annexinA</i> 7 ^{+/+} and <i>annexinA</i> 7 ^{/-}
mice
Figure 7. Liver total COX activity and COX-1 activity in <i>annexin</i> $A7^{+/+}$ and <i>annexin</i>
A7 ^{-/-} mice
Figure 8. Liver COX-2 activity and PGE ₂ concentration in <i>annexinA7</i> ^{+/+} and <i>annexin</i>
<i>A7^{/-}</i> mice
Figure 9. Blood glucose concentration following intraperitoneal glucose injection in
annexin $A7^{+/+}$ and annexin $A7^{-/-}$ mice
Figure 10. Insulin serum concentration before and after intraperitoneal glucose injection
(GLU i.p.) in annexin $A7^{+/+}$ and annexin $A7^{-/-}$ mice
Figure 11. Blood glucose concentration following intraperitoneal insulin injection in
annexin $A7^{+/+}$ and annexin $A7^{-/-}$ mice
Figure 12. Glucose tolerance in aspirin-treated <i>annexin</i> $A7^{+/+}$ and <i>annexin</i> $A7^{-/-}$ mice33
Figure 13. Glucose-induced insulin secretion in aspirin-treated $annexinA7^{+/+}$ and
annexinA7 ^{/-} mice
Figure 14. Body weight and serum leptin concentration in <i>annexinA7</i> ^{+/+} and <i>annexin</i>

<i>A7^{/-}</i> mice
Figure 15. Glucose-induced current in jejunum of $annexinA7^{+/+}$ and $annexinA7^{-/-}$
mice
Figure 16. Urinary glucose concentration in <i>annexinA</i> $7^{+/+}$ and <i>annexinA</i> $7^{-/-}$ mice37
Figure 17. Amiloride-induced current in colon of $annexinA7^{+/+}$ and $annexinA7^{-/-}$
mice
Figure 18. The mechanism of annexin A7 impacting on insulin sensitivity

List of Abbreviations

AA	Arachidonic acid
ADP	Adenosine diphosphate
AMP	Adenosine monophosphate
AKT	Serine/threonine-specific protein kinase
b.w.	Body weight
COX	Cyclooxygenase
DAGs	Diglycerides
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
ENaC	Amiloride-sensitive epithelial sodium channel
eNOS	Endothelial NO synthase
ER	Endoplasmic reticulum
ERK	Extracellular-signal-regulated kinase
EPR	Prostaglandin E receptor
FPR	Formyl peptide receptor
GBM	Glioblatoma multiforme
GLUT4	Glucose transporter type 4
GS	Glycogen synthase
GSK-3	Phsophroylates glycogen synthase kinase-3
JNK	Jun N-terminal kinase
IGF	Insulin like growth factor
Ig	Immuno Globulin
IL	Interleukin
IRS	Insulin receptor substrate

МАРК	Mitogen activated protein kinase
NO	Nitric Oxide
NSAIDs	Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs
OSM	Oncostatin M
PDK-1	3-phosphoinositide-dependent protein kinase-1
PGs	Prostaglandins
PGE ₂	Prostaglandin E2
PGES	Prostaglandin E2 synthase
PGI ₂	Prostaglandin I2
PGH ₂	Prostaglandin H2
РКС	Novel protein kinases C
PI3K	Phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase
SEM	Standard error of the mean
SGLT	Sodium-dependent glucose cotransporter
SOCS-3	Suppressor of cytokine signaling 3
Shc	Adaptor protein p66
TBS	Tris-buffered saline
TAGs	Triglycerides
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor
TXA	Thromboxane
6-Keto-PGF ₁ α	6-Keto-prostaglandin- $F_1\alpha$

1.Introduction

Diabetes mellitus is one of the major diseases in modern time, which affects around 6 million people in Germany according to the survey of the Robert Koch Institute in 2009 (http://www.rki.de). International Diabetes Federation (IDF) estimates that the number of people suffered from diabetes will rise to 552 million by 2030 globally (http://www.idf.org). Diabetes mellitus has been seen as a serious health threat in the worldwide, therefore early interference is urgently required. Type 2 diabetes mellitus is characterized by insulin resistance or relative insulin deficiency, which is a more prevalent form and comprises of 90% of people with diabetes around the world¹. It is strongly associated with obesity, hypertension and dyslipidemia². However, the precise mechanisms triggering the insulin resistance remain unclear.

1.1 Annexin and annexin A7

Annexins are a family of calcium dependent phospholipids binding proteins, which are found in almost all tissues and cell types. There are more than 160 unique annexin proteins from fungi and protists to plants and vertebrates. But only twelve annexin subfamilies have been discovered in humans (annexin A1-annexin A11 and annexin 13)³. These proteins are mainly distributed in the inner surface of the plasma membrane related to cytoskeleton and cellular structures.

In structure, there are four segments or annexin repeats, which form highly α -helical and tightly entwined bands, in an annexin core (Figure 1). The segments form two main convex-concave sides. Each annexin shares a common C-terminal protein core that contains the calcium binding sites (yellow ball in Figure 1). The more concave side is variable N-terminal region. It has ligand binding sites that can bind some proteins or signal molecules in cytoplasm and play its function. Therefore, the latter is seen as the deciding factor of individual annexin function ⁴. Several members of annexin have been

shown to bind the S100 calcium-binding proteins, actin and formyl peptide receptor (FPR), which can regulate a variety of cellular activities such as differentiation and apoptosis^{5,6}.



Figure 1. The three-dimensional crystal structure of human annexin A5. The four annexin repeats that are given in green (repeat I), blue (repeat II), red (repeat III), and violet/cyan (repeat IV). The yellow ball indicates Ca^{2+} . Modified from Gerke V and Moss SE (2002)⁷.

The conservation of multiple annexins in many cell types suggests its fundamental role in cell biology. The development of knockout mice has provided great insight into the functions of annexins A1, A2, A5, A6, A7 and A8. Annexin A1 can cause changes in the inflammatory response and effects glucocorticoids regulation⁸. Annexin A1 deficient mice increase adipose tissue, suggesting annexin A1 as an important modulator in adiposity⁹. Annexin A2 is expressed at the surface of vascular vessels and related to blood clotting¹⁰. Annexin A2 deficient mice have defects in fibrin homeostasis, effecting the neovascularization¹¹. Annexin A5 which is an anticoagulation may be linked to the development of obesity¹². Annexin A6 expression, which is associated with tumor, suppress the cancer proliferation by inhibition of Ras /MAPK signaling pathway^{13,14}. Annexin A6 also can regulate the mitochondrial morphogenesis, affecting the cellular energy supply by inhibiting Drp1 activity¹⁵. Annexin A8 affects the recruitment of leukocyte *via* stimulating the surface delivery CD63 in endothelial cells¹⁶.

Annexin A7 (synexin) was the first annexin protein to be isolated and described¹⁷. It was

isolated as a reagent that mediated aggregation of chromaffin granules and fusion of phospholipids membranes in the presence of Ca^{2+} . Annexin A7 differs from other annexin proteins in that it possesses extraordinary long amino terminus¹⁷. This amino terminus carries an exon of 22 amino acids generated by alternative splicing leading to two isoforms: 47 and 51 kDa. Both of them widely expressed in murine and human tissues, but in the skeletal muscle, myocardium only 51 kDa isoforms is expressed ¹⁸, in platelets only 47 kDa expressed¹⁹.

Annexin A7 influences many functions and metabolic processes. In cardiovascular research, annexin A7 deficiency may disturb calcium normal operation and conduction, which leads to severe electrical instability in the murine heart ²⁰. Lack of annexin A7 enhances eryptosis of erythrocytes, due to calcium overload, shorten its life of red blood cells and lead to anemia ²¹. In tumors, high annexin A7 expression is associated with high aggressive potential in hormone-relative tumors such as malignancies of liver cancer, gastric cancer, nasopharyngeal carcinoma, colorectal cancer and breast cancer²². However, annexin A7 also has a tumor-suppression role in glioblastoma, glioblastoma multiforme, melanoma and prostate cancer. Annexin A7 is seen as a potential target in clinical diagnosis and treatment of certain tumors²². Further, annexin A7 takes part in the regulation of gastric acid secretion. Gastric acid cannot be upregulated by the glucocorticoid dexamethasone without annexin $A7^{23}$. The isoform of annexin A7 inhibits PGE₂ formation and contributes to the regulation of secretion. According to a malaria study in annexin A7 knockout mice, parasites enhance PGE₂ formation and calcium permeability, while the wide type group significantly decreases it²⁴. Annexin A7 is also abundantly expressed in some inflammatory diseases, such as inflammatory myopathies²⁵.

1.2 COX and prostaglandin

Cyclooxygenase (COX) is a central and rate-limiting enzyme responsible for the production of prostaglandins. There are main three known isoforms of COX: COX-1, COX-2 and COX-3. COX-1 is expressed in various of tissues, particularly in gastric, bowel mucosa and kidney ²⁶.COX-1 is related to the production of prostaglandins (PGs) which are important lipid compounds for regulating normal physiological function, such as stomach mucous production, regulation of gastric acid and normal platelets mediation ²⁷. The expression of COX-2, as a part of immune response, is much lower than COX-1 in normal physiology. COX-2 can be stimulated by inflammatory cytokines, growth factors, carcinogens etc.. Aberrant COX-2 activation and PGs production are associated with infection and cancers (Figure 2) ²⁸. COX-3 is a new isoform and seen as a COX-1 variant. Similar with COX-1 function, COX-3 cannot be induced by acute inflammatory stimulation²⁹.



Figure 2. COX-1 and COX-2 pathways. COX-1 is constitutive and regulates normal physiological function. COX-2 is inducible by cytokines etc. and related to inflammation and cancers.

Prostanoids are a group of fatty acid derivatives including PGs, prostacyclin and thromboxane (TXA). COX enzyme converts arachidonic acid (AA) to prostaglandin H₂ (PGH₂), through peroxidase activity. PGH₂ is a precursor of the series-2 prostanoids and acted upon by one of a group of synthases that can modify the cyclopentane and produce different kinds of prostaglandins. Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), such as aspirin, can reduce the PGs formation by inhibiting COX enzyme, which directly impacts the quantity of PGs production (Figure 3).



Figure 3. Prostaglandin biosynthetic pathways. Arachidonic acid is catalyzed by COX-1 or COX-2 resulting in synthesis of PGH₂. PGH₂ is converted to one of prostaglandins, dependent upon the end synthase. NSAIDS reduce the PGs through COX enzyme inhibiting.

1.3 PGE₂ and its effect in glucose metabolism

 PGE_2 is an important mediator of immune-inflammatory responses inducing vasodilation by smooth muscle relaxation, stimulating fever by acting on the hypothalamus, and causing pain by sensitizing peripheral nociceptors³⁰. PGE₂ is synthesized by the action of prostaglandin E2 synthase (PGES) which acts on COX derived PGH₂ and released by macrophages ³¹.

PGE₂ can conduct the signal through four different G-protein coupled receptors, termed E series prostaglandin receptors (EP1R-EP4R)³². Each receptor is encoded on a separate gene and differs in structure and function. EP3R holds prominent position and plays regulatory role in β -islet cells³³.

Recent evidence suggests PGE₂ has a significant role in obesity and diabetes mellitus. PGE₂ can increase leptin release from adipose tissue and inhibit lipolysis in white adipose tissue, predicting that PGE₂ signaling is important in the regulation of body weight and metabolic homeostasis³⁴. Mice lacking EP3R can develop obesity and have a significantly higher body weight than wild type group when aged 10 weeks ³⁵. High level of PGE₂ and up-regulation of COX-2 in human adipocytes have been observed *in vitro* ³⁶. Mice lacking phospholipase A2, an essential component in PGE₂ biosynthesis, have a reduced PGE₂ concentration in adipose tissue and lowered weight gain ³⁷. Moreover, PGE₂ may simulate oncostatin M (OSM) which is produced by Kupffer cells, thereby resulting in insulin resistance in hepatocytes ³⁸. EP1R in the kidney play a critical role in the development of diabetic nephropathy³⁹. The synthesis of PGE₂ and EP3R in β -cells can be up regulated in type 2 diabetes mellitus and result in β -cell dysfunction⁴⁰. The higher levels of PGE₂ is also observed in patients with diabetic retinopathy suggesting that PGE₂ may have a pathogenic role in diabetic retinopathy⁴¹.

Hypertension is a part of insulin resistance syndrome ⁴². PGE₂ can affect and regulate the peripheral vascular tone by EPR. EP1R and EP3R, which are mainly expressed in pulmonary vascular vessels and nervous system, are functionally associated with vasoconstriction. Knocking out EP1R or EP3R causes the hypotension in mice ^{43,44}. In the kidney, COX-2 is an important mediator of the renin-angiotensin system. PGE₂ and PGI₂ from renal medullary play a critical role in regulating the secretion of renal rennin and the reabsorption of sodium and water in the medullary thick ascending limb and collecting duct. Mice with COX-2 deficiency or blocking COX-2 can decrease renal rennin production and secretion and induce mild to moderate elevation of blood pressure ⁴⁵.

1.4 Insulin action and signaling

Insulin is an important peptide hormone in the metabolism of glucose and fat. It can stimulate cells in liver, skeletal muscle and adipose to absorb and utilize glucose from the blood and keep glycemic level homeostasis within the body. In the liver, insulin promotes glycogen synthesis through stimulating glycogen synthase (GS) and inhibiting glycogen phosphorylase. In muscle and adipose tissue, insulin induces an uptake of glucose by increasing glucose transporter type 4 (GLUT4) expression on the cell surface and then forms glycogen in muscle or converts the glucose to fatty acids in fat⁴⁶. Hence, loss of insulin secretion or resistance to its actions can lead to high blood glucose concentration and result in diabetes mellitus.

There are two major signal pathways that conduct to effectors after insulin receptor substrate (IRS) binding with insulin. One pathway is metabolism signaling through IRS and phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase (PI3K) pathway, which regulates carbohydrate, fat, and protein metabolism or increases endothelial NO synthase (eNOS). The other is mitogenic pathway through Shc/RAS/MAPK that regulates gene transcription and cell proliferation. Any deficiency or mutation of the genes in this pathway or effected by other factors may lead to the disorder of the metabolic action of insulin.

Insulin receptors are widely expressed at the cell surface in insulin responsive tissues. It consists four parts (Figure 4), two extracellular insulin-binding sites (α - peptides chains, yellow color) and two transmembrane sites (β - peptides chains, pink color). The β -peptides chains are stimulated by autophoshorylation when α - peptides chains bind to insulin. It provides specific sites for binding the IRS protein and some downstream signaling molecules e.g. Shc protein⁴⁷. IRS is activated through a phosphotyprosine process when binding to the insulin receptor.



Figure 4. Insulin receptor structure. Insulin receptor monomer composed of α (yellow) and β subunit (purple). They are connected by disulfide bounds to form a functional receptor⁴⁸.

There are two main types of insulin receptor substrates: IRS-1 and IRS-2. Both of them are expressed in most insulin sensing-tissues. IRS-1 is related to GLUT4, which is an important glucose transporter in liver and adipose tissue. The main effect of IRS-1 is to promote skeletal muscle or adipose cells to utilize glucose whereas the IRS-2 regulates the function of β -islet cell and promote glycogen synthase (GS) in hepatocytes. Phosphorylated IRS activates PI3K and then results in serine/threonine-specific protein kinase (AKT) and 3-phosphoinositide-dependent protein kinase-1 (PDK-1) phosphorylation. AKT is a central intermediate for many metabolism processes in cells. There are three isoforms of AKT: AKT1, AKT2 and AKT3. AKT1 and AKT2 play the dominant action in insulin response in skeletal muscle and adipose tissue, whereas AKT3 can be activated in the liver^{49,50}. AKT phosphorylates AS160, a protein that is required for GLUT4 translocation in cell⁵¹. AKT was also shown to be one of the insulin mediated kinases that phosphorylates glycogen synthase kinase-3 (GSK-3)⁵². This intracellular pathway promotes glycogen synthesis in liver and muscle via glycogen synthase activation and glucose uptake in adipose tissue by translocation GLUT4 to the cell surface membrane (Figure 5)⁵³.

Shc/Ras/MAPK signaling pathway is another way to regulate the insulin effects on cells. It can transfer the signal from a receptor at the surface to the inside or nucleus of the cell. It mainly includes three ways ERK1/2, JNK and p38. ERK1/2 signal pathway is known as the most classic in MAPK pathways, which can be activated by phosphorylated Ras or some small molecules such as insulin like growth factor (IGF) and prostaglandins. ERK1/2 can cross through the membrane of cells or nucleus and plays an important role in cell proliferation and gene expression⁵⁴.



Figure 5. Insulin signaling through its metabolic and mitogenic pathways. Insulin induces glucose uptake in liver, muscle and adipose tissue through PI3K-AKT pathway and regulates gene function through Shc/Ras/MAPK pathway. Modified from Chiu and Cline (2010)⁴⁸.

1.5 Insulin signaling defects in insulin resistance

Insulin resistance is the common pathophysiologic basis of type 2 diabetes mellitus and the exact mechanism remains unclear. However, it has been demonstrated that insulin resistance is influenced by both environmental and genetic factors⁵⁵.

The first step of insulin action is initiated by the binding and activation of its receptors, which are expressed on the cell surface. It has been observed that IRS-1 low expression in skeletal muscle and adipocytes from patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus ^{56,57}. Several studies showed the insulin receptor unaltered or impaired in the type 2 diabetes mellitus ⁵⁸. The mutation in exon 20 of the insulin receptor gene may be an important reason for genetic insulin resistance ⁵⁹. As described above, IRS family has critical physiologic functions on insulin. IRS-1 knockout mice can develop a mild insulin resistance ⁶⁰. However, disruption of IRS-2 genes causes a severe insulin resistance and develops to type 2 diabetes mellitus eventually⁶¹. Researchers found impaired PI3K activity in the liver or skeletal muscle from Type2 diabetes both *in vivo* and *vitro*⁶²⁻⁶⁴. AKT is also an essential protein in the normal glucose metabolism. AKT2 deficient mice develop insulin resistance and diabetes-like syndrome⁶⁵. Over expression of GLUT4 in adipose tissue enhances insulin sensitivity and glucose tolerance. Adipose tissue loss of GLUT4 results in a degree of insulin resistance⁶⁶.

Furthermore, some studies reveal that insulin signaling can be affected by other elements such as the inflammatory and hormonal factors, endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress and metabolic 'overload' in insulin-sensing tissues⁶⁷. TNF- α and IL-6 are multi functional cytokines. Increased TNF- α expression has been discovered in adipose tissues of obesity people⁶⁸. Inhibiting phosphorylation of IRS-1 and disrupting the translocation of GLUT4 is the main effect of TNF- α in insulin resistance ^{69,70}. IL-6 can inhibit insulin receptor transduction *via* inducing the suppressors' cytokine signaling-3 (SOCS-3) in hepatocytes. SOCS-3 is a direct inhibitor of insulin receptor autophoshorylation in the cell ^{71,72}.

Obesity or over-lipid accumulation is associated with mechanical stress in the cell. ER is a critical player in cell stress and ER stress can significantly decrease insulin-stimulated tyrosine phosphorylation of IRS-1 in hepatocytes and hypoactive JNK pathway ⁷³. Ingesting high-fat for a long period or infusing the lipid directly in rodents can lead to the accumulation of lipids, including triglycerides (TAGs), diglycerides (DAGs), and ceramides, and inducing insulin resistance^{74,75}. Lipids over accumulation within liver cells and insulin resistance are strongly coupled⁷⁶, which triggers activation of novel protein kinases C (PKC) , relate to serine phosphorylation of IRS1, and alter the insulin signaling cascade^{77,78}. Experimental work with PKC knockout mice demonstrates that it can protect mice from fat-induced insulin resistance ⁷⁹.

1.6 Aims of the study

It has been previously shown that annexin A7 affects COX activity. These two key molecules participate in various metabolic processes. Furthermore, recent data indicates that insulin resistance has a strong association with COX activity and its metabolite PGE₂. However the role of annexin A7 in glucose homeostasis remains unclear. Therefore, we pursued to investigate the role of annexin A7 in glucose regulation. Our hypothesis states that annexin A7 modifies COX activity and prostaglandin formation thereby impacting insulin sensitivity and glucose regulation.

The aim of this study is to:

- Explore the possible mechanism of annexin A7 on the regulation of serum glucose concentration
- Describe the basic pathway leading to the effect of annexin A7 on glucose metabolism.
- The role of ENaC and SGLT1 from colon and jejunum *in vivo* using A7 knockout mice

2. Materials and Methods.

2.1 Materials

2.1.1 Animals

Experiments were performed in gene-targeted mice lacking annexin A7 (*annexinA7^{-/-}*) and in corresponding wild type mice (*annexinA7^{+/+}*). Generation, properties and genotyping of annexinA7^{-/-} mice were described earlier ⁸⁰. Male age-matched mice (9-15 week-old) were used for the experiments. All animal experiments were conducted according to the German law for the care and use of animals and were approved by the responsible authority of the state of Baden-Württemberg (Regierungspräsidium Tübingen). Mice had free access to a standard chow diet (SSniff, Soest, Germany) and a tap water.

2.1.2 Blood and Serum Collection

Equipment and Chemicals

Names	Manufacturer and country of origin
Diethylether	Roth, Karlsruhe ,Germany
Na-Heparin capillaries	HirschmannLaborgeräte, Eberstadt, Germany
SST Tubes	BD Microtainer, Franklin Lakes, USA
Centrifuge 5417 R	Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany

2.1.3 Tolerance test

Chemicals

Names	Manufacturer and country of origin
D-Glucose	Sigma, Schnelldorf, Germany
Saline	Fresenius Kabi, Bad Homburg, Germany
Phosphate buffered saline (PBS)	GIBCO, Carsbad, Germany
Long-acting Insulin	Lantus, Frankfurt, Germany

Equipment

Manufacturer and country of origin
Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany
Millex Merk , Darmstadt, Germany
BD, Drogheda, Ireland
Braun, Bad Arolsen, Germany
Roche, Mannheim, Germany
Roche, Mannheim, Germany
Sartorius, Göttingen, Germany
Mediware, Wesel, Germany

2.1.4 ELISA Measurement

Equipment

Names	Manufacturer and country of origin
Eppendorf pipettes 1ml, 200µL,	Eppendorf AG, Hamburg, Germany
100µL,10µL	
Eppendorf tubes	Eppendorf AG, Hamburg, Germany
Centrifuge 5417R	Eppendorf AG, Hamburg, Germany
Stripette 5,10,25ml	Coring Incorporated, Corning NY, USA
Vortex Genie	Scientific Indusreies, Bohemia NY, USA
Powerwaver XS2	BioTek Instruments, Inc. Winooski,USA
Utratip	Greiner bio-one, Frickenhausen, Germany
Shaker VIBRAX VXR	IKA, Staufen, Germany
MultiChanelPipet	Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany

ELISA Kits and Chemicals

Names	Manufacturer and country of origin
Ultra Sensitive Mouse Insulin	Crystal Chem INC, Downers Grove, IL, USA
ELISA kit	
6-Keto-PGF _{1α} Immunoassay Kit	Biotrend, Köln, Germany
COX activity assay Kit	Cayman, Ann Arbor,USA
PGE ₂ Immunoassay Kit	Demeditec, Kiel, Germay
Plasma Leptin ELISA Kit	EMD Millipore, Missouri, USA
Ampuwa	Fresenius Kabi, Bad Homburg, Germany

Software

Names

Manufacturer and country of origin

Sigma plot version 7.0 GraphPad Instat version 3.05 Systat Software Inc., Erkrath, Germany GraphPad Software Inc., San Diego, USA

2.1.5 Ussing chamber measurement

Equipment

Names	Manufacturer and country of origin
Maclab/4e	AD Instruments, Dunedin, New Zealand
Pulse generator 5.1	Custom made
Mini Chamber	Custom made
Microscope	Carl Zeiss, Oberkochen, Germany
Waterbath	Labortechnik, Seelbach, Germany
Chemicals	
Names	Manufacturer and country of origin
NaCl	VWR Chemicals, Darmstadt, Germany
KH ₂ PO ₄	Roth, Karlsruhe ,Germany
$K_2HPO_4 \times 3H_2O$	Merk, Darmstadt, Germany
KCL	Roth, Karlsruhe ,Germany
$MgCl_2 \times 6H_2O$	Merk, Darmstadt, Germany
Pyruvic Acid	Sigma, Schnelldorf, Germany
$CaCl_2 \times 2H_2O$	Sigma, Schnelldorf, Germany
NaHCO ₃	Sigma, Schnelldorf, Germany
Calcium Gluconate	Sigma, Schnelldorf, Germany
Amiloride	Sigma, Schnelldorf, Germany
DMSO	Sigma, Schnelldorf, Germany
Carbogen	Westfalen AG, Muenster, Germany
Software	
Names	Manufacturer and country of origin
Chart version.4.2	Axon Instruments, USA

2.1.6 Urine glucose Measurement

Names	Manufacturer and country of origin
Eppendorf tubes	Eppendorf AG, Hamburg, Germany
Balance	Sartorius, Göttingen, Germany
Metabolic cages	Techniplast, Hohenpeissenberg, Germany
Microtest 96wells	Falcon, Frankin Lakes, USA
Vortex	Labnet Abimed, Langenfeld, Germany
Centrifuge 5417 R	Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany
Eppendorf pipettes	Eppendorf AG, Hamburg, Germany
Ampuwa	Fresenius Kabi, Bad Homburg, Germany
Glucose Kit	Roche Diagnostics, Mannheim, Germany

Equipment and Chemicals

2.2. Methods

2.2.1 Serum Collection

To obtain blood specimens, animals were lightly anesthetized with diethylether and approximately 130 μ l of blood was withdrawn into heparinized capillaries by puncturing the retro-orbital plexus. After collection of the blood in SSD tubes, then centrifuged at 6,000-8,000 g for 3-8 minutes in a refrigerated centrifuge. The resulting supernatant is designated serum.

2.2.2 Animals Treatment

For some experiments, mice were pretreated with aspirin in drinking water at a concentration of 600 mg/l for 1-2 weeks consecutively.

2.2.3 Glucose Tolerance Test

In order to detect disturbances in glucose metabolism, mice are fasted overnight and glucose (2g/kg b.w.) was injected intraperitoneally (i.p.). The blood glucose

concentration is determined before and at 15th, 30th, 45th, 60th, 90th, and 120th minute after the injection. The glucose concentration was measured in a drop of tail blood utilizing a glucometer.

2.2.4 Insulin Tolerance Test

For determine the insulin resistance in body, mice are fasted for 4 h, and long-acting insulin was injected i.p. (0.5 U/kg b.w.). The blood glucose concentration is determined before and at 15th, 30th, 45th, 60th, 90th, and 120th minute after the injection. The glucose concentration was measured in a drop of tail blood utilizing a glucometer.

2.2.5 Determination of insulin, leptin and 6-Keto-PGF_{1a} in plasma

The serum insulin, leptin and 6-Keto-PGF_{1 α} concentrations were determined with an enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) method according to the manufacturer's instructions. Results were derived using the standard curve method.

2.2.6 Determination of PGE₂ and COX activity in liver tissue

The PGE₂ concentration and COX activity in liver were determined with an ELISA method according to the manufacturer's instructions. Results were derived using the standard curve method.

2.2.7 Ussing Chamber Measurement

For the analysis of electrogenic intestinal glucose transport, distal jejunal segments were taken from the intestine, and the muscle layers were carefully separated from the luminal layer under a microscope. The luminal tissue was then mounted into a custom-made mini-Ussing chamber with an opening of 0.00769 cm². Under control conditions, the serosal and luminal perfusate for jejunal experiments contained (in mM): 115 NaCl, 2 KCl, 1 MgCl₂, 1.25 CaCl₂, 0.4 KH₂PO₄, 1.6 K₂HPO₄, 5 Na pyruvic acid, 25 NaHCO₃,

20 mannitol (pH 7.4, NaOH). The solutions were gassed with 5% CO_2 prior to the Ussing chamber experiment, and the temperature was maintained at 37°C. Where indicated, glucose (20 mM) was added to the luminal perfusate at the expense of mannitol.

ENaC activity was estimated from the amiloride-sensitive potential difference and current across the colonic epithelium. After removing the outer serosal and the muscular layer of late distal colon under a microscope, tissues were mounted onto a custom-made mini-Ussing chamber with an opening area of 0.00769 cm². The serosal and luminal perfusate contained (in mM): 145 NaCl, 1 MgCl₂, 2.6 Ca-gluconate, 0.4 KH₂PO₄, 1.6 K₂HPO₄, 5 glucose. To assess ENaC mediated transport, 50 μ M amiloride (in DMSO) was added to the luminal perfusate. All experiments were carried out at a temperature of 37°C.

In all Ussing chamber experiments, the transepithelial potential difference (V_{te}) was determined continuously and the transepithelial resistance (R_{te}) was estimated from the voltage deflections (ΔV_{te}) elicited by imposing test currents (I_t) of 1 µA. The resulting R_{te} and I_{sc} were calculated according to Ohm's law.⁸¹.

2.2.8 Urine Collection and Urinary glucose Measurement

For evaluation of the urinary glucose levels, mice were placed individually in metabolic cages for 24-hour urine and feces collection with free access to fluid and food. They were allowed a 3-day habituation period when food & water intake, urinary flow, urinary excretion of salt, fecal excretion and body weight were recorded every day to ascertain that the mice were adapted to the new environment. Subsequently 24h collection of urine was performed for three consecutive days in order to obtain the urinary parameters. To assure quantitative urine collection, metabolic cages were siliconized and urine was collected under water-saturated oil. Urinary glucose levels were determined by the Glucose kit according to the manufacturer's instructions.

2.3 Statistical Analysis

Data are provided as arithmetic means \pm SEM, n represents the number of mice studied. Differences were tested for significance using *Student's unpaired two-tailed t-test*, and only results with p < 0.05 were considered statistically significant. Microsoft Excel 2011 and Graph pad Prism 6 were used for the calculation.

3. Results

3.1 Higher serum 6-Keto-PGF₁ α levels in *annexinA7*^{-/-} mice

A previous study has reported higher levels of PGE₂ in erythrocytes from mice lacking annexin A7 (*annexinA7*^{-/-} mice)⁸². In the present study, due to the short half-life time (30s) of PGE₂, it is difficult to determine accurately *in vitro*. Instead, the stable and end product of PGI₂ metabolism 6-Keto-PGF₁ α was used to estimate serum COX-2 activity. We measured 6-Keto-PGF₁ α in serum from *annexinA7*^{-/-} and *annexinA7*^{+/+} mice. Figure 6 illustrates that the serum 6-Keto-PGF₁ α concentrations was significantly (*, p<0.05) higher in *annexinA7*^{-/-} mice than in *annexinA7*^{+/+} mice pointing to higher COX-2 activity in mice lacking annexinA7.



Figure 6. Serum 6-Keto-PGF₁ α concentration in *annexinA*7^{+/+} and *annexinA*7^{-/-} mice. Arithmetic means \pm SEM (n = 6) of serum 6-Keto-PGF₁ α concentration from *annexinA*7^{+/+} (white bar) and *annexinA*7^{-/-} mice (black bar).

* indicates significant difference using *Student's t-test*(p<0.05).

3.2 Higher COX activity in *annexinA7^{-/-}* mice liver

The liver is the major organ involved in glucose metabolism. The COX activity was determined in liver tissue. As illustrated in Figure 7, the total COX activity levels of the liver in $annexinA7^{-/-}$ mice was higher than $annexinA7^{+/+}$ mice. The difference reached statistical significance (*, p<0.05). COX-1 activity in liver of $annexinA7^{-/-}$ mice was higher, but was not statically difference.



Figure 7. Liver total COX activity and COX-1 activity in *annexin* $A7^{+/+}$ and *annexin* $A7^{-/-}$ mice.

A. Arithmetic means \pm SEM (n = 6) of the liver total COX activity of *annexinA7*^{+/+} (white bar) and *annexinA7*^{-/-} mice (black bar).

B. Arithmetic means \pm SEM (n = 6) of the liver COX-1 activity of *annexinA7*^{+/+} (white bar) and *annexinA7*^{-/-} mice (black bar).

* indicates significant difference using Student's t-test (p<0.05).

PGE₂ concentration and COX-2 activity in liver tissue were also determined. In normal liver, COX-2 activity is either low or not detectable, but annexin A7 may modify the activity of COX-2. As shown in figure 8, PGE₂ concentration and COX-2 activity in liver tissue were higher in *annexinA7^{-/-}* mice, however, not reaching statistical significance.



Figure 8. Liver COX-2 activity and PGE₂ concentration in *annexinA* $7^{+/+}$ and *annexinA* $7^{+/-}$ mice.

A. Arithmetic means \pm SEM (n = 6) of the liver COX-2 activity of *annexinA7*^{+/+} (white bar) and *annexinA7*^{-/-} mice (black bar).

B. Arithmetic means \pm SEM (n = 4) of the PGE₂ concentration in liver of *annexinA7*^{+/+} (white bar) and *annexinA7*^{-/-} mice (black bar).

3.3 Decreased glucose tolerance in *annexinA7*^{-/-} mice

Since COX activity and prostaglandins have been shown to negatively influence hepatic glucose tolerance, the fasted glucose levels were analyzed in *annexinA7^{+/+}* mice and *annexinA7^{+/+}* mice. Following an overnight fasting period the blood glucose concentration was not significantly different in *annexinA7^{-/-}* mice (73 ± 6 mg/dl, n =5) and *annexinA7^{+/+}* mice (66 ± 3 mg/dl, n =7) (Figure 9A).

To test further for differences between *annexin* $A7^{-/-}$ mice and *annexin* $A7^{+/+}$ mice in glucose metabolism, glucose tolerance was determined. After overnight fasting, an intraperitoneal glucose load (2 g/kg b.w.) was followed by a rapid increase in the blood glucose concentration (Figure 9B), which was more pronounced in *annexin* $A7^{-/-}$ mice than in *annexin* $A7^{+/+}$ mice (Figure 9B). The difference of blood glucose concentration reached statistical significance before, and 15, 30, 45, and 60 min after the glucose load. These results suggest compromised glucose tolerance in *annexin* $A7^{-/-}$ mice.





A. Arithmetic means \pm SEM (n = 5-7) of the overnight fast blood glucose concentration of *annexinA7*^{+/+} (white bar) and *annexinA7*^{-/-} mice (black bar).

B. Arithmetic means \pm SEM (n = 17-18) of the blood glucose concentration following intraperitoneal injection of glucose (2 g/kg body weight) into *annexinA7*^{+/+} and *annexinA7*^{-/-} mice.

, * indicate significant difference using Student's t-test (p<0.01, p<0.001).

Α

В

3.4 Lower insulin sensitivity of *annexinA7^{/-}* mice

Decreased glucose tolerance in *annexin* $A7^{+/-}$ mice may be the consequence of reduced insulin sensitivity of peripheral glucose uptake or impaired insulin secretion. The next series of experiments therefore explored glucose-induced insulin secretion in *annexin* $A7^{+/-}$ and *annexin* $A7^{+/+}$ mice. To this end, mice were fasted overnight, and glucose (2 g/kg b.w.) was injected intraperitoneally. After 30 min, blood was drawn and serum insulin determined. Figure 10 illustrates that the serum insulin level was significantly higher in *annexin* $A7^{+/-}$ mice than in *annexin* $A7^{+/+}$ mice following the glucose load. This result demonstrates intact insulin secretion in *annexin* $A7^{-/-}$ mice and suggests that rather reduced insulin sensitivity accounts for their decreased glucose tolerance.





Arithmetic means \pm SEM (n = 12-14) of the serum insulin level 30 min after intraperitoneal injection of glucose (2 g/kg b.w.) into *annexinA*7^{+/+}(white bar) and *annexinA*7^{-/-} (black bar) mice.

* indicates significant difference using *Student's t-test* (p<0.05).

Hence, further experiments explored an impact of annexin A7 deficiency on the insulin sensitivity of peripheral glucose uptake. To this end, insulin was injected intraperitoneally (0.5 U/kg b.w.) after 4 hours of fasting and blood glucose concentration measured every 15 minutes. As illustrated in Figure 11, the insulin administration was followed by a decrease of the blood glucose concentration, which was significantly less pronounced in *annexinA7*^{-/-} mice than in *annexinA7*^{+/+} mice pointing to decreased peripheral insulin sensitivity in *annexinA7*^{-/-} mice.



Figure 11. Blood glucose concentration following intraperitoneal insulin injection in $annexinA7^{+/+}$ and $annexinA7^{-/-}$ mice.

Arithmetic means \pm SEM (n = 13) of the blood glucose concentration following intraperitoneal injection of insulin (0. 5 U/kg b.w.) into *annexinA7*^{+/+} and *annexinA7*^{-/-} mice. The values are expressed as percentage of the blood glucose level at t = 0 min.

*, **, *** indicate significant difference using *Student's t-test* (p<0.05, p<0.01, p<0.001).

3.5 Reduced glucose tolerance in *annexinA7*^{-/-} mice depends on COX activity

Further experiments were performed to elucidate whether the reduced glucose tolerance of *annexinA7^{-/-}* mice was secondary to enhanced COX activity. Mice were treated with COX inhibitor aspirin and the glucose tolerance test was repeated. It is shown in Figure 12 that in aspirin-treated animals the intraperitoneal glucose load (2 g/kg b.w.) was followed by an increase in the blood glucose concentration, which was less pronounced in *annexinA7^{-/-}* mice than in *annexinA7^{+/+}* mice.



Figure 12. Glucose tolerance in aspirin-treated *annexinA*7^{+/+} and *annexinA*7^{-/-} mice. Arithmetic means \pm SEM (n = 10-12) of the blood glucose concentration following intraperitoneal injection of glucose (2 g/kg body weight) into *annexinA*7^{+/+} and *annexinA*7^{-/-} mice treated with aspirin (600 mg/l in drinking water) for 1-2 weeks.

* indicates significant difference using *Student's t-test* (p<0.05).

Since aspirin treatment markedly improved glucose tolerance in *annexin* $A7^{-/-}$ mice, insulin was again determined in aspirin-treated animals after a glucose load. In contrast to untreated mice, glucose-induced insulin secretion was lower in aspirin-treated *annexin* $A7^{-/-}$ mice and not significantly different from *annexin* $A7^{+/+}$ mice (Figure 13). This result suggests an improvement of insulin resistance of aspirin-treated *annexin* $A7^{-/-}$ mice.



Figure 13. Glucose-induced insulin secretion in aspirin-treated *annexin* $A7^{+/+}$ and *annexin* $A7^{-/-}$ mice.

Arithmetic means \pm SEM (n = 6-7) of the serum insulin level 30 min after intraperitoneal injection of glucose (2 g/kg b.w.) into *annexinA7*^{+/+} (white bar) and *annexinA7*^{-/-} (black bar) mice treated with aspirin (600 mg/l in drinking water) for 2 weeks.

*** indicate significant difference using Student's t-test (p<0.001).

3.6 Leptin levels in *annexinA* $7^{+/+}$ and *annexinA* $7^{-/-}$ mice.

Leptin secretion by white adipose tissue and plays a critical role in the regulation of food intake and maintenance the normal body weight. Leptin can regulate COX activity and stimulate PGE_2 and $PGF_{2\alpha}$ secretion by induce COX-2 activation^{83,84}. To assess whether annexin A7 modifies the leptin level hereby affecting the COX activity, serum leptin concentration was measured.

The results show the body weight of both genotypes were similar $(22.73\pm0.67g$ and $21.62\pm0.32g$) in 12 week-old-mice (Figure 14A), the serum leptin concentration in *annexinA7^{-/-}* mice was lower than *annexinA7^{+/+}* mice but without statistical significance (Figure 14B).



Figure 14. Body weight and serum leptin concentration in *annexinA* $7^{+/+}$ and *annexinA* $7^{-/-}$ mice.

A. Arithmetic means \pm SEM (n = 8, 12 weeks old) of the body weight of *annexinA7*^{+/+} (white bar) and *annexinA7*^{-/-} mice (black bar).

B. Arithmetic means \pm SEM (n = 4) of the serum leptin concentration in *annexinA7*^{+/+} (white bar) and *annexinA7*^{-/-} mice (black bar).

3.7 Lower SGLT1 activity in jejunum of *annexinA7^{/-}* mice.

Annexin A7 is expressed in the alimentary tract and related to gastric and colonic neoplasm²². The intestinal glucose absorption is mediated by SGLT1 and the jejunum is the major organ for the digestion and glucose absorption. To elucidate the influence of annexin A7 on the sodium-dependent glucose cotransporter-1 (SGLT1) activity and thus effects the blood glucose level, distal segments of jejunum from *annexinA7^{-/-}* mice and *annexin A7^{+/+}* were mounted into mini-Ussing chambers and subjected to electrophysiological analysis. The transepithelial resistance (R_t) approached $5.8\pm 0.4 \Omega \text{ cm}^2$ (n = 5) in *annexinA7^{+/+}* mice and $6.6\pm 0.4 \Omega \text{ cm}^2$ (n = 5) in *annexinA7^{-/-}* mice and 6.6±0.4 $\Omega \text{ cm}^2$ (n = 5). Neither the transepithelial potential difference nor the transepithelial resistance was significantly different between *annexinA7^{+/+}* and *annexinA7^{-/-}*.



Figure 15. Glucose-induced current in jejunum of *annexinA* $7^{+/+}$ and annexinA $7^{-/-}$ mice. **A.** Arithmetic means means \pm SEM (n = 5) resistance of intestine epithelium from *annexinA* $7^{+/+}$ (white bar) and *annexinA* $7^{-/-}$ (black bar) mice.

B. Arithmetic means \pm SEM (n = 5-11) of glucose-induced current in distal jejunum from $annexinA7^{+/+}$ (white bar) and $annexinA7^{-/-}$ (black bar) mice.

C. Original tracings from typical experiments illustrating the effect of 20 mM glucose (addition indicated by black arrows) on the transepithelial potential difference in *annexinA*7^{+/+} (left panels) and *annexinA*7^{-/-} (right panels) mice.

** indicates significant difference using Student's t-test (p<0.01).

The partial isosmotic replacement of mannitol by glucose created a lumen-negative shift of the transepithelial potential difference (ΔVg) without significantly altering the transepithelial resistance. ΔV_g and R_t allowed the calculation of the glucose-induced current, which was significantly lower in *annexinA7^{-/-}* than in *annexinA7^{+/+}* mice (**, P<0.01) (Figure 15). Accordingly, the SGLT1 activity was significantly lower in *annexinA7^{-/-}* than in *annexinA7^{-/-}* mice. However, we found higher glucose concentration in *annexinA7^{+/+}* mice. This result suggests that the activity of SGLT1 has no directly correlation with blood glucose level between *annexinA7^{-/-}* and *annexinA7^{+/+}* mice.

3.8 Urinary glucose levels in *annexinA* $7^{+/+}$ and *annexinA* $7^{-/-}$ mice.

In the kidney, sodium-dependent glucose cotransporter-2 (SGLT2) plays a central role in glucose reabsorption. SGLT2 inhibitors have been applied in clinical treatment for diabetes mellitus⁸⁵. In present study, urinary glucose was measured to estimate the activity of SGLT2. The result shown in figure 16, there was no significant difference between annexinA7^{+/+} and annexinA7^{-/-} mice, indicating that annexinA7 can not modify the SGLT2 activity then thus affects the blood glucose.



Figure 16. Urinary glucose concentration in *annexinA* $7^{+/+}$ and *annexinA* $7^{-/-}$ mice. Arithmetic means \pm SEM (n = 5) of the urinary glucose concentration of *annexinA* $7^{+/+}$ (white bar) and *annexin* $7^{-/-}$ mice (black bar).

3.9 Higher ENaC activity of colon in *annexinA7^{/-}* mice.

The electrogenic amiloride-sensitive epithelial sodium channels (ENaC) are abundantly expressed in the distal colon. The activity of ENaC, which can be regulated by insulin and PGs, is related to the sodium balance, the blood volume and the blood pressure⁸⁶⁻⁸⁸. To evaluate whether annexin A7 influence on the ENaC activity, the ENaC activity in colon was determined by Ussing Chamber.



Figure 17. Amiloride-induced current in colon of *annexinA*7^{+/+} and annexinA7^{-/-} mice. **A.** Arithmetic means means \pm SEM (n = 4) resistance of colon epithelium from *annexinA*7^{+/+} (white bar) and *annexinA*7^{-/-} (black bar) mice.

B. Arithmetic means \pm SEM (n = 4) of amiloride-induced current in colon from *annexinA7*^{+/+} (white bar) and *annexinA7*^{-/-} (black bar) mice.

C. Original tracings from typical experiments illustrating the effect of 50μ M amiloride (addition indicated by black arrows) on the transepithelial potential difference in *annexinA7*^{+/+} (left panels) and *annexinA7*^{-/-} (right panels) mice.

* indicates significant difference using *Student's t-test* (p<0.05).

As illustrated in Figure 17, the transepithelial resistance (Figure 17A) between $annexinA7^{+/+}$ and $annexinA7^{-/-}$ mice have no significantly difference, but the amiloride sensitive current was significantly increased in $annexinA7^{-/-}$ mice (*, P<0.05)(Figure 17B). This result suggests that annexin A7 downregluate ENaC activity and may affect the blood pressure.

4. Discussion

Annexin A7 is a widely conserved gene including fungi, protists, plants and vertebrates and has been shown to be involved in many different cellular processes, some of which implicate COX upregulation that occurs in a variety of pathophysiological conditions including diabetes mellitus. To assess whether annexin A7 was a negative effect on the glucose metabolism, gene-targeted mice lacking annexin A7 mice (annexinA7^{-/-}) were used to compare wild-type mice (annexinA7^{+/+}). Our studies reveal a novel function of annexin A7 in the regulation of cellular glucose uptake. Increase in serum glucose concentration following an intraperitoneal glucose load was significantly higher annexin $A7^{-/-}$ mice than in corresponding wild type mice. The observations point to impaired glucose uptake in annexin A7 deficiency. Glucose uptake is decreased in *annexinA7^{-/-}* mice despite a sharper increase of insulin plasma levels following a glucose load in *annexinA7^{-/-}* mice as compared to *annexinA7^{+/+}* mice. Accordingly, the hyperglycemia reflects insulin resistance of cellular glucose uptake. The decline of plasma glucose concentration following injection of insulin was significantly blunted in annexin A7 deficient mice.

4.1 The effect of annexin A7 deficiency on glucose tolerance

The present observations found an increase of serum glucose concentration in $annexinA7^{-/-}$ mice was significantly higher than in $annexinA7^{+/+}$ mice after an

intraperitoneal glucose load. The maintenance of normal glucose homeostasis depends on a finely balanced dynamic interaction between insulin secretion and cellular sensitivity to insulin. Insulin production disorder can lead to type 1 diabetes mellitus. Reduced cellular sensitivity to insulin can lead to abnormal glucose metabolism and form type 2 diabetes mellitus. Type 2 diabetes mellitus pathogenesis is multifactorial process and the precise mechanisms remain unclear.

We postulate that impaired insulin secretion or impaired cellular glucose uptake in part due to annexin A7 deficiency. In order to verify this hypothesis, insulin concentration in mice serum was determined. Prior to an intraperitoneal glucose load, the basal concentration of serum insulin was lower in *annexinA7*^{-/-} mice and *annexinA7*^{+/+} mice, without statistical significance. However, after glucose loading, the concentration of serum insulin increased more in *annexinA7*^{-/-} mice than *annexinA7*^{+/+} mice within 30 minutes. This result demonstrates that impaired insulin production in *annexinA7*^{-/-} does not account for their decreased glucose tolerance.

Insulin is the primary factor for cellular glucose uptake in normal metabolism. Insulin decreases the blood glucose levels mainly by promoting glucose uptake into cells, stimulating glycogen synthesis in liver and skeletal muscle. Insulin tolerance test was applied to assess the impact of annexin A7 deficiency on the insulin sensitivity of peripheral glucose uptake. The result revealed an impaired insulin effect on the blood glucose level in *annexinA7^{-/-}* mice. This indicates that *annexinA7^{-/-}* mice have peripheral insulin resistance. Interestingly, the heterozygote mouse model of annexin A7 deficiency (*annexinA7^{+/-}* mice) exhibited higher receptor-dependent glucose-induced insulin secretion ⁸⁹.

Defective insulin signaling and action may cause the impairment of insulin action and lead to insulin resistance. Annexin A7 is related to the Ca^{2+} and phospholipid-binding protein in tissue and has a strong association with cellular protein function and defective intracellular calcium signaling⁸⁰. Hence, annexin A7 deficiency can affect proteins, receptors or transporters that are related to the insulin function and thereby induce the insulin resistance. Further studies are required to confirm the effect of annexin A7 on those factors.

4.2 The mechanism of annexin A7 impacting on insulin sensitivity

The insulin resistance was at least partially due to enhanced COX activity in annexin A7-deficient mice. Enhanced formation of PGE₂, a by-product of COX-2 metabolism, in *annexinA7^{-/-}* mice has already been observed in erythrocytes ⁹⁰. COX-2 is a critical mediator in inflammation and immune cell reaction. Inflammation, which is an important factor in the pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes mellitus, can induce insulin resistance⁹¹. Lately, research has suggested that chronic subclinical inflammation state may be an underlying mechanism for the insulin resistance⁹². Prostaglandins, which act as signaling intermediates, can also mediate the insulin resistance process. Overproduction of prostaglandin D₂ (PGD₂) can increase insulin resistance through enhance lipophilic molecules in fat ⁹³. Elevated spinal COX-2 protein expression and PGE₂ release were observed in diabetic rats⁹⁴. As outlined in the introduction, glucose is taken up into muscle through insulin-sensitive GLUT4. It was suggested that COX-2 can regulate and decrease GLUT4 expression *in vitro*⁹⁵.

Our studies showed deranged glucose metabolism which was paralleled by elevated serum levels of 6-Keto-PGF_{1 α}, which is a stable end product of prostaglandin metabolism indicating COX-2 activity ^{96,97}. Moreover, a COX enzyme assay revealed higher hepatic COX activity in *annexinA7^{-/-}* mice than *annexinA7^{+/+}* mice. Recently, PGE₂ has been shown to cause insulin resistance in hepatocytes through affecting the function of insulin receptor substrate and preventing an insulin-dependent activation of AKT and glycogen synthesis⁹⁸. Prostaglandins may therefore contribute to deranged glucose metabolism in type 2 diabetes mellitus ⁹⁸. Thus, we further provide evidence that hepatic COX activity is, at least in part, regulated by annexin A7.

In order to elucidate whether the impaired glucose tolerance of *annexin* $A7^{-/-}$ mice was related to the enhance COX activity, mice were treated with COX inhibitor aspirin. Aspirin can decrease prostaglandins production and reduce inflammation through binding and inhibiting COX enzyme. It has been suggested that aspirin can enhance the insulin sensitivity by keeping IRS away from other kinases that may reduce IRS activity⁹⁹. The beneficial effect of COX inhibition on glucose intolerance has been reported earlier in a study showing that aspirin treatment ameliorates peripheral insulin resistance ¹⁰⁰.

In line with enhanced COX activity in $annexinA7^{-/-}$ mice, the difference in glucose tolerance between $annexinA7^{-/-}$ mice and $annexinA7^{+/+}$ mice was reversed by treating the mice with aspirin. Moreover, aspirin treatment of $annexinA7^{-/-}$ mice reduced glucose-induced insulin secretion.

Notably, the effect of annnexin A7 deficiency on parasitemia and clinical course of malaria and the blunted stimulation of gastric acid secretion by dexamethasone were similarly reversed by inhibition of cyclooxygenase with aspirin 90,23 . Accordingly, the phenotype of *annexinA7^{-/-}* mice is at least partially due to inhibition of cyclooxygenase. This observation does, however, not rule out that further other annexin A7 sensitive mechanisms contribute to the regulation of glucose metabolism.

4.3 The effect of annexin A7 on SGLT1 and ENaC activity

SGLT1 is the primary intestinal glucose transporter. SGLT1 expression is under an indirect control by insulin and increased in type 2 diabetes mellitus^{101,102}. The mice lacking SGLT1 or inhibition of SGLT1 activity can improve glucose tolerance¹⁰³. Interestingly, the activity of SGLT1 was significantly lower in *annexinA7^{-/-}* mice. Current research suggests that PGE₂ inhibits SGLT1 by reducing the cotransporter expression¹⁰⁴. We report that COX activity and PGI₂ end product 6-Keto-PGF_{1α} were significantly higher in *annexinA7^{-/-}* than *annexinA7^{+/+}* mice. This data imply that SGLT1 activity in jejunum is regulated by annexin A7.

Hypertension is part of insulin resistance syndrome and ENaC is a key protein in regulation of blood volume and blood pressure¹⁰⁵. It has been observed that PGE₂ induces ENaC upregulation in the mouse cortical collecting duct cells and in *Xenopus* lung epithelium^{106,107}. Recent studies reveal the activation of ENaC can trigger the PGE₂ formation and release in embryo implantation¹⁰⁸, demonstrating the action of PGE₂ and ENaC may be mutual. Moreover, insulin can also enhance the ENaC activity by increasing its channel density¹⁰⁹. We report that higher ENaC activity in

annexinA7^{-/-} mice. Thereby, Annexin A7 may regulate the ENaC activity and affect the blood pressure.



Figure 18. The mechanism of annexin A7 impacting on insulin sensitivity.

In summary (figure 18), annexin A7 inhibits COX activity then reducing PGE₂ synthesis. Insulin sensitivity is decreased by PGE₂. In annexin A7-deficient mice, we also found insulin sensitivity was attenuated through the treatment of aspirin. Therefore, annexin A7 enhances the insulin sensitivity through its COX inhibition. PGE₂ can reduce SGLT1 activity and decrease the glucose absorption in the jejunum. Due to the insulin resistance exist in annexin A7-deficient mice, however, blood glucose levels cannot reflect the difference of SGLT1 activity. Further studies will be required to evaluate the effect of annexin A7 on SGLT1 expression, cellular localization and activity. Annexin A7 can also decrease ENaC activity through reducing PGE₂ synthesis. Higher ENaC activity is associated with hypertension and

diabetes mellitus. Blood pressure in annexin A7-deficient mice and ENaC expression should be future investigated.

The clinical relevance of this finding is reinforced by the observation that the COX-2 higher expression in vascular endothelial cells, islets of langerhans and peripheral nerve of type 2 diabetes mellitus patients, when compared to non-diabetic individuals¹¹⁰⁻¹¹². Inflammation, especially the chronic subclinical inflammation state, is an underlying mechanism for the insulin resistance in type 2 diabetic mellitus. Our findings have revealed that annexin A7 deficiency or mutation may aggravate insulin resistance in diabetes. Lack of samples from diabetic patients is a limitation of our study. Nevertheless, we found a significant correlation between annexin A7 and COX activity as well as insulin resistance. Annexin A7 may be a novel therapeutic target for clinical application for type 2 diabetes mellitus in the future.

Conclusion

Annexin A7 deficiency decreases the insulin sensitivity of cellular glucose uptake, an effect virtually abrogated by inhibition of cyclooxygenase with aspirin. Annexin A7 deficiency increases the ENaC activity in the colon possibly leading to high blood pressure. Annexin A7 deficiency decreases the Sglt1 activity in the jejunum lowering glucose absorption.

5. Zusammenfassung

Hintergrund: Die Insulinsensitivität wird durch PGE₂, ein Hauptprodukt der Cyclooxygenase 2 (COX-2), gestört, welches nach Glukosegabe die zelluläre Glukoseaufnahme beeinflusst. Wie schon in Erythrozyten gezeigt werden konnte, wird die PGE2-Bildung durch Annexin A7 gehemmt. Die vorliegende Arbeit ermittelte die Rolle von Annexin A7 im Glukosemetabolismus.

Methoden: Mäuse mit gezielter Annexin A7 Genausschaltung wurden mit Wildtypmäusen verglichen. 6-Keto-prostaglandin-F1 α wurde mit enzymgekoppeltem Immunadsorptionstest (ELISA) gemessen um die COX-2-Aktivität im Serum zu bestimmen. Die Hepatische COX-Aktivität wurde durch ELISA bestimmt. Die Serumkonzentrationen von Glukose und Insulin wurden nach intraperitonealer Gabe von Glukose und das Serum-Glukoselevel nach intraperitonealer Injektion von Insulin bestimmt. Die Experimente wurden jeweils mit und ohne Vorbehandlung der Mäuse mit dem COX-Inhibitor Aspirin durchgeführt.

Resultate: Das 6-Keto-prostaglandin-F1α-Level im Serum und die hepatische COX-Aktivität waren signifikant höher in Annexin A7 Knockout-Mäusen als in Wildtyp-Mäusen. Der intraperitoneale Glukosetoleranztest brachte eine erniedrigte Glukosetoleranz in Annexin A7 Knockout-Mäusen verglichen mit Wildtyp-Mäusen zum Vorschein. Das Serum-Glukoselevel wurde durch eine intraperitoneale Insulininjektion in beiden Genotypen erniedrigt, ein Effekt, welcher signifikant weniger ausgeprägt in Annexin A7 Knockout als in Wildtyp-Mäusen war. Die intraperitoneale Gabe von Glukose führte zu höheren Serum-Insulinkonzentrationen in Annexin A7 Knockout-Mäusen. Die Aspirinvorbehandlung verringerte die Erhöhung der Insulinkonzentration nach Glukoseinjektion in beiden Genotypen und hob den Unterschied der Insulinkonzentration im Serum nahezu auf. Zudem verbesserte die Aspirinvorbehandlung die Glukosetoleranz in Annexin A7 Knockout-Mäusen.

Schlussfolgerung: Annexin A7 beeinflusst die Insulinsensitivität bei Glukoseaufnahme und damit die Glukosetoleranz. Diese Effekte sind von der COX-Aktivität abhängig.

6.Publications

Dong Luo, Abul Fajol, Anja Umbach, Angelika A. Noegel, Stefan Laufer, Florian Lang, Michael Föller (2014) *Influence of Annexin A7 on insulin sensitivity of cellular glucose uptake*. Pfluegers Archiv - European Journal of Physiology. 2014 Jun; DOI 10.1007/s00424-014-1541-z. PMID: 24903239

Hosseinzadeh Z, Luo D, Sopjani M, Bhavsar SK, Lang F (2014) *Down-regulation of the epithelial* Na⁺ *channel* ENaC by Janus kinase 2. J Membr Biol. 2014 Apr;247(4):331-8. PMID: 24562791

Umbach AT, Luo D, Bhavsar SK, Hosseinzadeh Z, Lang F (2013) *Intestinal Na⁺ loss* and volume depletion in JAK3-deficient mice. Kidney Blood Press Res. 2013;37(4-5):514-20. PMID: 24281140

Warsi J, Hosseinzadeh Z, Dong L, Pakladok T, Umbach AT, Bhavsar SK, Shumilina E, Lang F (2013) *Effect of Janus kinase 3 on the peptide transporters PEPT1 and PEPT2*. J Membr Biol. 2013 Dec;246(12):885-92. PMID: 23934551

Hosseinzadeh Z, Dong L, Bhavsar SK, Warsi J, Almilaji A, Lang F (2014) *Upregulation of peptide transporters PEPT1 and PEPT2 by Janus kinase JAK2*. Cell Physiol Biochem. 2013;31(4-5):673-82. PMID: 23711493

7.Curriculum Vitae

Dong Luo

Date and place of birth: July 16, 1984. Linyi, China

Contact: luodong716@gmail.com

Education

Doctoral research (2011-2014)

Institute of Physiology I, Eberhard Karl University of Tuebingen, Germany

Master of Medicine (2008-2011)

Guangzhou Overseas Chinese Hospital, Jinan University, Guangdong, China

Bachelor of Medicine (2002-2008)

Clinical medicine college, Taishan Medical University, Shandong, China

Clinical medicine college, Binzhou Medical College, Shandong, China

Lab Skills

Animal experiment Ussing chamber experiment ELISA Measurement Western-blot Analysis

Professional Experience

Served as a resident/teaching assistant in clinical medicine college (Jinan University, Guangzhou, China)

8. Acknowledgements

It is my pleasure to have the opportunity to study and do research in the Physiology Institute I, University of Tuebingen, Germany. I would like to express my gratitude to everyone who has given me any help and support during my stay here.

First of all, I would like to express my deepest gratitude to Prof. Dr. Florian Lang who gave me the opportunity to work here, for his guidance, patience, support and suggestions. I would like to thank Dr. Michael Föller, for guidance and laying out the strategy for project work. I would like to thank Dr. Mady S.Salker, for my thesis revision and valuable suggestions.

Moreover, I would like to thank the members of our institute, Anja Umbach, Abul Fajol, Willi Yu, Bingbing Zhang, Hong Chen, Guilai Liu, Jing Yan, Elfriede Faber, Uwe Schüler and Jan Wiech for their helpful suggestions, collaboration discussion, the outstanding technical support and nice working environment. I would like to say thank you to my friends Wei Wei, Lili Feng, Jian Wei, for giving encouragement and kindly help in my daily life.

In the end, I am grateful to my parents for their endless love, support throughout my entire life.

References

- 1. Bardsley JK, Want LL. Overview of diabetes. *Crit Care Nurs Q*. Apr-Jun 2004;27(2):106-112.
- Lago RM, Nesto RW. Type 2 diabetes and coronary heart disease: focus on myocardial infarction. *Curr Diab Rep.* Feb 2009;9(1):73-78.
- **3.** Moss SE, Morgan RO. The annexins. *Genome biology*. 2004;5(4):219.
- **4.** Swairjo MA, Seaton BA. Annexin structure and membrane interactions: a molecular perspective. *Annual review of biophysics and biomolecular structure*. 1994;23(1):193-213.
- Hayes MJ, Rescher U, Gerke V, Moss SE. Annexin-actin interactions. *Traffic*. 2004;5(8):571-576.
- Walther A, Riehemann K, Gerke V. A novel ligand of the formyl peptide receptor: annexin I regulates neutrophil extravasation by interacting with the FPR. *Molecular cell*. 2000;5(5):831-840.
- 7. Gerke V, Moss SE. Annexins: from structure to function. *Physiol Rev.* Apr 2002;82(2):331-371.
- Hannon R, Croxtall JD, GETTING SJ, et al. Aberrant inflammation and resistance to glucocorticoids in annexin 1–/– mouse. *The FASEB Journal*. 2003;17(2):253-255.
- Akasheh RT, Pini M, Pang J, Fantuzzi G. Increased Adiposity in Annexin A1-Deficient Mice. *PloS one*. 2013;8(12).
- Brownstein C, Falcone DJ, Jacovina A, Hajjar KA. A mediator of cell surface-specific plasmin generation. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* Dec 2001;947:143-155; discussion 155-146.
- Ling Q, Jacovina AT, Deora A, et al. Annexin II regulates fibrin homeostasis and neoangiogenesis in vivo. *J Clin Invest.* Jan 2004;113(1):38-48.
- Seok H, Park HJ, Lee BW, et al. Association of annexin A5 polymorphisms with obesity. Biomed Rep. Jul 2013;1(4):654-658.
- Wang X, Zhang S, Zhang J, et al. Annexin A6 is down-regulated through promoter methylation in gastric cancer. *Am J Transl Res.* 2013;15(5(5)):555-562.
- 14. Sakwe AM, Koumangoye R, Guillory B, Ochieng J. Annexin A6 contributes to the

invasiveness of breast carcinoma cells by influencing the organization and localization of functional focal adhesions. *Exp Cell Res.* Apr 1 2011;317(6):823-837.

- **15.** Chlystun M, Campanella M, Law AL, et al. Regulation of mitochondrial morphogenesis by annexin A6. *PLoS One*. 2013;8(1):e53774.
- **16.** Poeter M, Brandherm I, Rossaint J, et al. Annexin A8 controls leukocyte recruitment to activated endothelial cells via cell surface delivery of CD63. *Nat Commun.* 2014;5:3738.
- Herr C, Smyth N, Ullrich S, et al. Loss of annexin A7 leads to alterations in frequency-induced shortening of isolated murine cardiomyocytes. *Molecular and cellular biology*. 2001;21(13):4119-4128.
- Clemen CS, Hofmann A, Zamparelli C, Noegel AA. Expression and localisation of annexin VII (synexin) isoforms in differentiating myoblasts. J Muscle Res Cell Motil. Oct 1999;20(7):669-679.
- Herr C, Clemen CS, Lehnert G, et al. Function, expression and localization of annexin A7 in platelets and red blood cells: Insights derived from an annexin A7 mutant mouse. *BMC biochemistry*. 2003;4(1):8.
- Schrickel JW, Brixius K, Herr C, et al. Enhanced heterogeneity of myocardial conduction and severe cardiac electrical instability in annexin A7-deficient mice. *Cardiovasc Res.* Nov 1 2007;76(2):257-268.
- **21.** Lang E, Lang PA, Shumilina E, et al. Enhanced eryptosis of erythrocytes from gene-targeted mice lacking annexin A7. *Pflugers Arch.* Aug 2010;460(3):667-676.
- Guo C, Liu S, Greenaway F, Sun MZ. Potential role of annexin A7 in cancers. *Clin Chim Acta*. Aug 23 2013;423:83-89.
- Pasham V, Rotte A, Mia S, et al. Annexin 7 in the regulation of gastric acid secretion. *Cell Physiol Biochem.* 2013;32(6):1643-1654.
- Lang PA, Kasinathan RS, Brand VB, et al. Accelerated clearance of Plasmodium-infected erythrocytes in sickle cell trait and annexin-A7 deficiency. *Cell Physiol Biochem*. 2009;24(5-6):415-428.
- Probst-Cousin S, Berghoff C, Neundorfer B, Heuss D. Annexin expression in inflammatory myopathies. *Muscle Nerve*. Jul 2004;30(1):102-110.
- 26. Mattia C, Coluzzi F. COX-2 inhibitors: pharmacological data and adverse effects. Minerva

Anestesiol. Jul-Aug 2005;71(7-8):461-470.

- Crofford LJ. COX-1 and COX-2 tissue expression: implications and predictions. *J Rheumatol Suppl.* Jul 1997;49:15-19.
- 28. Grösch S, Tegeder I, Niederberger E, Bräutigam L, Geisslinger G. COX-2 independent induction of cell cycle arrest and apoptosis in colon cancer cells by the selective COX-2 inhibitor celecoxib. *The FASEB journal*. 2001;15(14):2742-2744.
- 29. Chandrasekharan N, Dai H, Roos KLT, et al. COX-3, a cyclooxygenase-1 variant inhibited by acetaminophen and other analgesic/antipyretic drugs: cloning, structure, and expression. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2002;99(21):13926-13931.
- Kalinski P. Regulation of immune responses by prostaglandin E2. *The Journal of Immunology*. 2012;188(1):21-28.
- Park JY, Pillinger MH, Abramson SB. Prostaglandin E2 synthesis and secretion: the role of PGE2 synthases. *Clin Immunol.* Jun 2006;119(3):229-240.
- **32.** Bos CL, Richel DJ, Ritsema T, Peppelenbosch MP, Versteeg HH. Prostanoids and prostanoid receptors in signal transduction. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol.* Jul 2004;36(7):1187-1205.
- **33.** Breyer RM, Bagdassarian CK, Myers SA, Breyer MD. Prostanoid receptors: subtypes and signaling. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol.* 2001;41:661-690.
- **34.** Fain J, Leffler C, Bahouth S, Rice A, Rivkees S. Regulation of leptin release and lipolysis by PGE2 in rat adipose tissue. *Prostaglandins & other lipid mediators*. 2000;62(4):343.
- 35. Sanchez-Alavez M, Klein I, Brownell SE, et al. Night eating and obesity in the EP3R-deficient mouse. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2007;104(8):3009-3014.
- 36. Fain JN, Kanu A, Bahouth SW, Cowan GS, Jr., Hiler ML, Leffler CW. Comparison of PGE2, prostacyclin and leptin release by human adipocytes versus explants of adipose tissue in primary culture. *Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids*. Dec 2002;67(6):467-473.
- Jaworski K, Ahmadian M, Duncan RE, et al. AdPLA ablation increases lipolysis and prevents obesity induced by high-fat feeding or leptin deficiency. *Nature medicine*. 2009;15(2):159-168.
- **38.** Henkel J, Gärtner D, Dorn C, et al. Oncostatin M produced in Kupffer cells in response to PGE2: possible contributor to hepatic insulin resistance and steatosis. *Laboratory*

Investigation. 2011;91(7):1107-1117.

- **39.** Makino H, Tanaka I, Mukoyama M, et al. Prevention of diabetic nephropathy in rats by prostaglandin E receptor EP1-selective antagonist. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology*. 2002;13(7):1757-1765.
- 40. Kimple ME, Keller MP, Rabaglia MR, et al. Prostaglandin E2 receptor, EP3, is induced in diabetic islets and negatively regulates glucose-and hormone-stimulated insulin secretion. *Diabetes*. 2013;62(6):1904-1912.
- 41. Schoenberger SD, Kim SJ, Sheng J, Rezaei KA, Lalezary M, Cherney E. Increased prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) levels in proliferative diabetic retinopathy, and correlation with VEGF and inflammatory cytokines. *Investigative ophthalmology & visual science*. 2012;53(9):5906-5911.
- **42.** Rao G. Insulin resistance syndrome. *American Family Physician*. 2001;63(6):1159-1163, 1165-1156.
- **43.** Ariumi H, Takano Y, Masumi A, et al. Roles of the central prostaglandin EP3 receptors in cardiovascular regulation in rats. *Neuroscience letters*. 2002;324(1):61-64.
- Stock JL, Shinjo K, Burkhardt J, et al. The prostaglandin E2 EP1 receptor mediates pain perception and regulates blood pressure. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*. 2001;107(3):325-331.
- 45. Cheng H-F, Wang J-L, Zhang M-Z, Wang S-W, McKanna JA, Harris RC. Genetic deletion of COX-2 prevents increased renin expression in response to ACE inhibition. *American Journal* of Physiology-Renal Physiology. 2001;280(3):F449-F456.
- 46. Barnett T, Kumar S. Obesity and diabetes. Vol 34: John Wiley & Sons; 2009.
- 47. Ward CW, Lawrence MC. Ligand induced activation of the insulin receptor: a multi step process involving structural changes in both the ligand and the receptor. *Bioessays*. 2009;31(4):422-434.
- **48.** Chiu SL, Cline HT. Insulin receptor signaling in the development of neuronal structure and function. *Neural Dev.* 2010;5:7.
- 49. Cho H, Mu J, Kim JK, et al. Insulin resistance and a diabetes mellitus-like syndrome in mice lacking the protein kinase Akt2 (PKBβ). *Science*. 2001;292(5522):1728-1731.
- 50. Cho H, Thorvaldsen JL, Chu Q, Feng F, Birnbaum MJ. Akt1/PKBα is required for normal

growth but dispensable for maintenance of glucose homeostasis in mice. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 2001;276(42):38349-38352.

- **51.** Eguez L, Lee A, Chavez JA, et al. Full intracellular retention of GLUT4 requires AS160 Rab GTPase activating protein. *Cell metabolism.* 2005;2(4):263-272.
- **52.** Cross DA, Alessi DR, Cohen P, Andjelkovich M, Hemmings BA. Inhibition of glycogen synthase kinase-3 by insulin mediated by protein kinase B. *Nature*. 1995;378(6559):785-789.
- Cantrell DA. Phosphoinositide 3-kinase signalling pathways. *Journal of cell science*.
 2001;114(8):1439-1445.
- **54.** Frojdo S, Vidal H, Pirola L. Alterations of insulin signaling in type 2 diabetes: a review of the current evidence from humans. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. Feb 2009;1792(2):83-92.
- **55.** Kahn SE, Hull RL, Utzschneider KM. Mechanisms linking obesity to insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes. *Nature*. 2006;444(7121):840-846.
- 56. Björnholm M, Kawano Y, Lehtihet M, Zierath JR. Insulin receptor substrate-1 phosphorylation and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase activity in skeletal muscle from NIDDM subjects after in vivo insulin stimulation. *Diabetes*. 1997;46(3):524-527.
- 57. Rondinone CM, Wang L-M, Lonnroth P, Wesslau C, Pierce JH, Smith U. Insulin receptor substrate (IRS) 1 is reduced and IRS-2 is the main docking protein for phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase in adipocytes from subjects with non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 1997;94(8):4171-4175.
- **58.** Krook A, Bjornholm M, Galuska D, et al. Characterization of signal transduction and glucose transport in skeletal muscle from type 2 diabetic patients. *Diabetes*. Feb 2000;49(2):284-292.
- 59. Moller DE, Cohen O, Yamaguchi Y, et al. Prevalence of mutations in the insulin receptor gene in subjects with features of the type A syndrome of insulin resistance. *Diabetes*. Feb 1994;43(2):247-255.
- 60. Kadowaki T, Tamemoto H, Tobe K, et al. Insulin resistance and growth retardation in mice lacking insulin receptor substrate-1 and identification of insulin receptor substrate-2. *Diabet Med.* Sep 1996;13(9 Suppl 6):S103-108.
- Kubota N, Tobe K, Terauchi Y, et al. Disruption of insulin receptor substrate 2 causes type 2 diabetes because of liver insulin resistance and lack of compensatory beta-cell hyperplasia. *Diabetes*. 2000;49(11):1880-1889.

55

- 62. Beeson M, Sajan MP, Dizon M, et al. Activation of protein kinase C-zeta by insulin and phosphatidylinositol-3,4,5-(PO4)3 is defective in muscle in type 2 diabetes and impaired glucose tolerance: amelioration by rosiglitazone and exercise. *Diabetes*. Aug 2003;52(8):1926-1934.
- **63.** Bouzakri K, Roques M, Gual P, et al. Reduced activation of phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase and increased serine 636 phosphorylation of insulin receptor substrate-1 in primary culture of skeletal muscle cells from patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes*. 2003;52(6):1319-1325.
- 64. Kim YB, Nikoulina SE, Ciaraldi TP, Henry RR, Kahn BB. Normal insulin-dependent activation of Akt/protein kinase B, with diminished activation of phosphoinositide 3-kinase, in muscle in type 2 diabetes. *J Clin Invest*. Sep 1999;104(6):733-741.
- **65.** Cho H, Mu J, Kim JK, et al. Insulin resistance and a diabetes mellitus-like syndrome in mice lacking the protein kinase Akt2 (PKB beta). *Science*. Jun 1 2001;292(5522):1728-1731.
- Kahn BB, Flier JS. Obesity and insulin resistance. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*.
 2000;106(4):473-481.
- 67. Muoio DM, Newgard CB. Mechanisms of disease: molecular and metabolic mechanisms of insulin resistance and beta-cell failure in type 2 diabetes. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.* Mar 2008;9(3):193-205.
- 68. Hotamisligil GS, Shargill NS, Spiegelman BM. Adipose expression of tumor necrosis factor-alpha: direct role in obesity-linked insulin resistance. *Science*. Jan 1 1993;259(5091):87-91.
- **69.** Hotamisligil GS, Peraldi P, Budavari A, Ellis R, White MF, Spiegelman BM. IRS-1-mediated inhibition of insulin receptor tyrosine kinase activity in TNF-alpha- and obesity-induced insulin resistance. *Science*. Feb 2 1996;271(5249):665-668.
- 70. Sethi JK, Hotamisligil GS. The role of TNF alpha in adipocyte metabolism. *Semin Cell Dev Biol*. Feb 1999;10(1):19-29.
- Senn JJ, Klover PJ, Nowak IA, Mooney RA. Interleukin-6 induces cellular insulin resistance in hepatocytes. *Diabetes*. Dec 2002;51(12):3391-3399.
- Senn JJ, Klover PJ, Nowak IA, et al. Suppressor of cytokine signaling-3 (SOCS-3), a potential mediator of interleukin-6-dependent insulin resistance in hepatocytes. *J Biol Chem.* Apr 18 2003;278(16):13740-13746.

- **73.** Ozcan U, Cao Q, Yilmaz E, et al. Endoplasmic reticulum stress links obesity, insulin action, and type 2 diabetes. *Science*. Oct 15 2004;306(5695):457-461.
- 74. Chavez JA, Holland WL, Bär J, Sandhoff K, Summers SA. Acid ceramidase overexpression prevents the inhibitory effects of saturated fatty acids on insulin signaling. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 2005;280(20):20148-20153.
- 75. Chavez JA, Summers SA. Characterizing the effects of saturated fatty acids on insulin signaling and ceramide and diacylglycerol accumulation in 3T3-L1 adipocytes and C2C12 myotubes. *Archives of biochemistry and biophysics*. 2003;419(2):101-109.
- 76. Boden G, Shulman GI. Free fatty acids in obesity and type 2 diabetes: defining their role in the development of insulin resistance and beta-cell dysfunction. *Eur J Clin Invest.* Jun 2002;32 Suppl 3:14-23.
- 77. Corbould A, Kim Y-B, Youngren JF, et al. Insulin resistance in the skeletal muscle of women with PCOS involves intrinsic and acquired defects in insulin signaling. *American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology And Metabolism.* 2005;288(5):E1047-E1054.
- 78. Morino K, Petersen KF, Dufour S, et al. Reduced mitochondrial density and increased IRS-1 serine phosphorylation in muscle of insulin-resistant offspring of type 2 diabetic parents. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*. 2005;115(12):3587-3593.
- **79.** Kim JK, Fillmore JJ, Sunshine MJ, et al. PKC-θ knockout mice are protected from fat-induced insulin resistance. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*. 2004;114(6):823-827.
- 80. Herr C, Smyth N, Ullrich S, et al. Loss of annexin A7 leads to alterations in frequency-induced shortening of isolated murine cardiomyocytes. *Mol Cell Biol.* Jul 2001;21(13):4119-4128.
- Hosseinzadeh Z, Dong L, Bhavsar SK, Warsi J, Almilaji A, Lang F. Upregulation of peptide transporters PEPT1 and PEPT2 by Janus kinase JAK2. *Cell Physiol Biochem*. 2013;31(4-5):673-682.
- 82. Lang PA, Kasinathan RS, Brand VB, et al. Accelerated clearance of Plasmodium-infected erythrocytes in sickle cell trait and annexin-A7 deficiency. *Cellular Physiology and Biochemistry*. 2009;24(5-6):415-428.
- 83. Brunetti L, Orlando G, Michelotto B, Ragazzoni E, Vacca M. Leptin stimulates prostaglandin E < sub > 2 </sub > and $F < sub > 2\alpha </sub >$, but not nitric oxide production in neonatal rat

hypothalamus. European journal of pharmacology. 1999;369(3):299-304.

- 84. Gao J, Tian J, Lv Y, et al. Leptin induces functional activation of cyclooxygenase 2 through JAK2/STAT3, MAPK/ERK, and PI3K/AKT pathways in human endometrial cancer cells. *Cancer science*. 2009;100(3):389-395.
- **85.** Chao EC, Henry RR. SGLT2 inhibition—a novel strategy for diabetes treatment. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*. 2010;9(7):551-559.
- Blazer-Yost BL, Esterman MA, Vlahos CJ. Insulin-stimulated trafficking of ENaC in renal cells requires PI 3-kinase activity. *American Journal of Physiology-Cell Physiology*. 2003;284(6):C1645-C1653.
- **87.** Saha C, Eckert GJ, Ambrosius WT, et al. Improvement in blood pressure with inhibition of the epithelial sodium channel in blacks with hypertension. *Hypertension*. 2005;46(3):481-487.
- 88. Tanaka I, Nagase K, Tanase K, Aoki Y, Akino H, Yokoyama O. Modulation of Stretch Evoked Adenosine Triphosphate Release From Bladder Epithelium by Prostaglandin E< sub> 2</sub>. *The Journal of urology*. 2011;185(1):341-346.
- 89. Mears D, Zimliki CL, Atwater I, et al. The Anx7(+/-) knockout mutation alters electrical and secretory responses to Ca(2+)-mobilizing agents in pancreatic beta-cells. *Cell Physiol Biochem.* 2012 2012;29(5-6):697-704.
- 90. Lang PA, Kasinathan RS, Brand VB, et al. Accelerated clearance of Plasmodium-infected erythrocytes in sickle cell trait and annexin-A7 deficiency. *Cell Physiol Biochem.* 2009 2009;24(5-6):415-428.
- **91.** Shoelson SE, Lee J, Goldfine AB. Inflammation and insulin resistance. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*. 2006;116(7):1793-1801.
- 92. Olefsky JM. Inflammation and Insulin Resistance. *The FASEB Journal*. 2012;26:465.463.
- 93. Fujitani Y, Aritake K, Kanaoka Y, et al. Pronounced adipogenesis and increased insulin sensitivity caused by overproduction of prostaglandin D2in vivo. *FEBS journal*. 2010;277(6):1410-1419.
- **94.** Freshwater JD, Svensson CI, Malmberg AB, Calcutt NA. Elevated spinal cyclooxygenase and prostaglandin release during hyperalgesia in diabetic rats. *Diabetes*. 2002;51(7):2249-2255.
- **95.** Alpert E, Gruzman A, Lardi-Studler B, Cohen G, Reich R, Sasson S. Cyclooxygenase-2 (PTGS2) inhibitors augment the rate of hexose transport in L6 myotubes in an insulin-and

AMPKα-independent manner. Diabetologia. 2006;49(3):562-570.

- 96. Giuliano F, Mitchell JA, Warner TD. Sodium salicylate inhibits prostaglandin formation without affecting the induction of cyclooxygenase-2 by bacterial lipopolysaccharide in vivo. *The Journal of pharmacology and experimental therapeutics*. Dec 2001;299(3):894-900.
- 97. Swierkosz TA, Mitchell JA, Warner TD, Botting RM, Vane JR. Co-induction of nitric oxide synthase and cyclo-oxygenase: interactions between nitric oxide and prostanoids. *British journal of pharmacology*. Apr 1995;114(7):1335-1342.
- 98. Henkel J, Neuschafer-Rube F, Pathe-Neuschafer-Rube A, Puschel GP. Aggravation by prostaglandin E2 of interleukin-6-dependent insulin resistance in hepatocytes. *Hepatology*. Sep 2009;50(3):781-790.
- **99.** Gao Z, Zuberi A, Quon MJ, Dong Z, Ye J. Aspirin inhibits serine phosphorylation of insulin receptor substrate 1 in tumor necrosis factor-treated cells through targeting multiple serine kinases. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 2003;278(27):24944-24950.
- 100. Carvalho-Filho MA, Ropelle ER, Pauli RJ, et al. Aspirin attenuates insulin resistance in muscle of diet-induced obese rats by inhibiting inducible nitric oxide synthase production and S-nitrosylation of IRbeta/IRS-1 and Akt. *Diabetologia*. Nov 2009;52(11):2425-2434.
- 101. Kurokawa T, Hashida F, Kawabata S, Ishibashi S. Evidence for the regulation of small intestinal Na+/glucose cotransporter by insulin. *Biochemistry and molecular biology* international. 1995;37(1):33-38.
- 102. Sabino-Silva R, Okamoto MM, David-Silva A, Mori RC, Freitas HS, Machado UF. Increased SGLT1 expression in salivary gland ductal cells correlates with hyposalivation in diabetic and hypertensive rats. *Diabetology & Metabolic Syndrome*. 2013;5(1):64.
- 103. Powell DR, DaCosta CM, Gay J, et al. Improved glycemic control in mice lacking Sglt1 and Sglt2. American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism. 2013;304(2):E117-E130.
- 104. Talukder JR, Griffin A, Jaima A, Boyd B, Wright J. Lactoferrin ameliorates prostaglandin E2-mediated inhibition of Na+-glucose cotransport in enterocytes. *Canadian journal of physiology and pharmacology*. 2013;92(1):9-20.
- 105. Rotin D, Schild L. ENaC and its regulatory proteins as drug targets for blood pressure control. *Current drug targets*. 2008;9(8):709-716.

- 106. Berk A, Fronius M, Clauss W, Schnizler M. Prostaglandin E2 induces upregulation of Na+ transport across Xenopus lung epithelium. *Journal of Comparative Physiology B*. 2004;174(1):83-89.
- 107. NIKLAS C HR, DAHLMANN A, KORBMACHER C, BERTOG M. Acta Physiologica Vol Volume 1982010.
- 108. Ruan YC, Guo JH, Liu X, et al. Activation of the epithelial Na+ channel triggers prostaglandin E(2) release and production required for embryo implantation. *Nat Med.* Jul 2012;18(7):1112-1117.
- 109. Baxendale-Cox LM, Duncan RL. Insulin increases sodium (Na+) channel density in A6 epithelia: implications for expression of hypertension. *Biological research for nursing*. 1999;1(1):20-29.
- Bagi Z, Erdei N, Papp Z, Édes I, Koller A. Up-regulation of vascular cyclooxygenase-2 in diabetes mellitus. *Pharmacol Rep.* 2006;58:52-56.
- **111.** Pop-Busui R, Kellogg AP, Cheng HT. Cyclooxygenase-2 pathway as a potential therapeutic target in diabetic peripheral neuropathy. *Current drug targets*. 2008;9(1):68-76.
- 112. Szerafin T, Erdei N, Fülöp T, et al. Increased cyclooxygenase-2 expression and prostaglandin-mediated dilation in coronary arterioles of patients with diabetes mellitus. *Circulation research*. 2006;99(5):e12-317.